FILED 07-26-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN **COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II**

Appeal No. 2021AP000484 Washington County Circuit Court Case Nos. 2020TR000836

In the Matter of the Refusal of Edward R. Gasse:

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case 2021AP000484

EDWARD R. GASSE,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN **APPEAL FROM** THE **JUDGEMENT OF** CONVICTION AND THE DECISION OF THE TRIAL COURT FINDING THAT MR. GASSE **REFUSED** CHEMICAL TESTING IN WASHINGTON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE, JUDGE, PRESIDING

THE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT EDWARD R. GASSE

By: Walter A. Piel, Jr. Attorney for the Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 01023997

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Did the officer have the requisite level of suspicion, pursuant to, to believe that Mr. Gasse was driving or operating a motor vehicle while he was under the influence of an intoxicant, as required under Wis.Stat.§343.305(9)(a)5a?

The trial court answered both questions yes.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because this is an appeal within Wis. Stats. Sec. 752.31(2), the resulting decision is not eligible for publication. Because the issues in this appeal may be resolved through the application of established law, the briefs in this matter should adequately address the arguments; oral argument will not be necessary.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE/FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Edward R. Gasse (Mr. Gasse) was charged in the Washington County, with having operated a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant (OWI) contrary to Wis. Stat. §346.63(1)(a), with having operated a motor vehicle with a prohibited alcohol concentration (PAC) contrary to Wis. Stat §346.63(1)(b), both as third offenses and with refusing to submit to a chemical test in violation of Wis. Stat. §343.305(9) on February 29, 2020. The defendant timely filed a request for a refusal hearing on March 5, 2020.

A refusal hearing was held on September 23, 2020¹, the Honorable James G. Pouros, Judge, Washington County Circuit Court presiding. On said date, the court found Mr. Gasse unlawfully refused chemical testing. A Dispositional Order/judgment was filed on March 9, 2021 was entered on April 1, 2021. (R. 16:1-5/ A.App. 1-5).

On March 17, 2021, the defendant timely filed a Notice of Appeal.

Pertinent facts in support of this appeal were adduced at the refusal hearing held on September 23, 2020 and were

1

¹ Mr. Gasse also moved to suppress the blood test result on grounds that the blood was drawn without a warrant, however, the defense did not seek leave to appeal that

introduced through the testimony of Germantown police officer Cody Farnsworth. Officer Farnsworth testified he had been with the Germantown police department for two and one-half years, and successfully completed the 720 hour law enforcement training academy. (R.29:8/ A.App.6).

Officer Farnsworth testified he was working in his capacity as a police officer on February 29, 2020. Farnsworth was at the police department at approximately 12:19 a.m.. On that date, at that time, he was advised Mr. Gasse was in the police department lobby in reference to an incident that had occurred on February 28th at approximately 11:00 p.m. (R.29:10/A.App.7). Other officers apparently had contact with Mr. Gasse about an hour and one-half earlier, and thought he was intoxicated by alcohol. (R.29:11/A.App.8). The incident occurred at Mr. Gasse's residence which is about a mile from the police department. (R.29:10/A.App.7).

Upon contact with Mr. Gasse, Officer Farnsworth observed an odor of intoxicant from Mr. Gasse's breath, and observed Mr. Gasse to have droopy, glassy, bloodshot eyes, and

slowed and slurred speech. (R.29:12/A.App.9). However, he was "standing without any kind of problem..." *Id.*

Mr. Gasse was at the police department because he had follow up questions concerning the incident that occurred the previous evening. (R.29:12/ A.App.10). In regard to the incident that had occurred at Mr. Gasse's residence, officers told him if there were any other issues to contact the police department via telephone. (R.29:12-13/A.App.10-11). According to Officer Farnsworth, Mr. Gasse initially told officers he drove to the police department, but later said a neighbor drove him. (R.29:13, 15/ A.App.12). Mr. Gasse further admitted to consuming one to two beers around 5:00 or 6:00 p.m. (R.29:14/ A.App.11). Officer Farnsworth reviewed surveillance footage and there was no indication that anyone other than Mr. Gasse operated the truck. (R.29:15/ A.App. 12).

Officer Farnsworth asked Mr. Gasse to perform field sobriety tests. Farnsworth testified he has been "trained and certified to administer standardized field sobriety tests." (R.29:16/ A.App. 13).

Prior to beginning the field sobriety tests, Officer Farnsworth asked Mr. Gasse if he had any medical problem that would prevent him from performing the tests. Mr. Gasse

indicated he had a leg injury from a snowmobile accident which would prevent him from performing the walking and standing exercises. (R.29:17/ A.App.14).

The first field sobriety test Farnsworth administered to Mr. Gasse was the horizontal gaze nystagmus test (HGN). Mr. Gasse complied with the officer's instructions on the HGN test. Officer Farnsworth testified he observed "lack of smooth pursuit, nystagmus prior to 45 degrees, and nystagmus on the onset of maximum deviation." (R.29:18/ A.App.15). Officer Farnsworth specifically did not testify to the significance of each observation, or as to what his observations meant in terms of impairment. Farnworth then performed the vertical nystagmus portion of the test and could not observe nystagmus because Mr. Gasse kept moving his head. *Id.* During this HGN test, Officer Farnsworth indicated Mr. Gasse's eyes to appear droopy and glassy and bloodshot. *Id.*

Officer Farnsworth also indicated he attempted to complete the vertical nystagmus portion but could not get an accurate reading as Mr. Gasse moved his head. *Id.* Officer Farnsworth did not perform the walk and turn and one leg stand test. The reason given was because of Mr. Gasse's physical limitations. (R.29:19/A.App.16). However, Farnsworth also

failed to perform any non-standard, field sobriety tests. Without further elaborating, Officer Farnsworth testified he was trained in performing non-standardized exercises. (R.29:19/A.App.16). Farnsworth provided no explanation as to why he did not perform the non-standard tests.

Officer Farnsworth requested Mr. Gasse submit to a preliminary breath test. Mr. Gasse refused the request.

Subsequently, Officer Farnsworth arrested Mr. Gasse for operating a motor vehicle while impaired.

Officer Farnsworth then read Mr. Gasse the informing the accused form at 12:48 a.m. (R.29:21/A.App.17) and asked Mr. Gasse if he would submit to a chemical test of his breath. (R.29:22/ A.App.18). Mr. Gasse responded that he would not submit to anything. *Id.* Officer Farnsworth started to complete the warrant paperwork, which took about ten minutes. (R.29:24/A.App.19). The on- call judge was twenty to twenty-five minutes away. *Id.* Officer Farnsworth described the procedure for driving to the judge and obtaining the warrant. (R.29:24-26/A.App.19-21). Officer Farnsworth testified he completed the affidavit but did not finish completing the warrant since another officer advised Farnsworth Mr. Gasse had a change of heart and now was willing to provide a breath sample.

Four minutes after reading the first Informing the Accused form, Officer Farnsworth again read the Informing the Accused for to Mr. Gasse at 12:52 a.m. (R.29:27/ A.App.22). Mr. Gasse agreed to take the breath test. (R.29:28/ A.App.23).

Officer Farnworth waits 20 minutes, Mr. Gasse blows into the Intoximeter machine, but Mr. Gasse cannot provide an adequate sample. (R.29:29/ A.App.24). Because of this, Officer Farnsworth requested Mr. Gasse to provide a sample of his blood. (R.29:29/ A.App.24).

Officer Farnsworth proceeded to read the Informing the Accused form a third time at 1:27 a.m. Mr. Gasse refuses to provide a sample of his blood. (R.29:31/ A.App.25). Once again Farnsworth begins the warrant process.

While Officer Farnsworth is in his car about to leave to obtain the warrant, another officer advised him that Mr. Gasse now is willing to provide a blood sample. Officer Farnsworth marked the informing the accused form as yes at 1:48 a.m. (R.29:31/ A.App.25). Mr. Gasse was transported to the hospital in Menomonee Falls for the blood draw. As Officer Farnsworth pulled into the driveway of the hospital Mr. Gasse asked what would happen if he refused to provide the test. (R.29:33/ A.App.26). Farnsworth told Mr. Gasse "we would figure that

out at a later time." *Id.* Once inside the hospital, Mr. Gasse continued to state he was refusing. Farnsworth continued to ask Mr. Gasse if he was willing to submit to the test, Mr. Gasse continued to say no. *Id.*

It was 2:23 a.m. and Officer Farnsworth was the only officer with Mr. Gasse, and he would need another officer at the hospital so that he could leave Mr. Gasse with the officer and travel to West Bend to get the warrant signed. (R.29:34/ A.App.27). The second officer arrived, Mr. Gasse was "somewhat disorderly" in the lobby (R.29:35/A.App.28) so they took him into an emergency room. Officer Farnsworth continued to ask Mr. Gasse if he was willing to take the test. (R.29:35/ A.App.28). Mr. Gasse said he did not want to be poked or prodded with any kind of needle. The officers forcibly drew Mr. Gasse's blood without a warrant at 2:32 a.m. (R.29:36/ A.App.29). Officer Farnsworth testified the reason for the forced blood draw was because he "knew we were working under a time constraint in regards to the .08 restriction." Farnsworth testified because he was "unable to complete the entirety of the standardized field sobriety exercises, so I was unable to get a full scope of his actual impairment." (R.29:36/ A.App.29).

On cross examination, Farnworth testified he first had contact with Mr. Gasse at the police department at 12:19 a.m. (R.29:38/ A.App.31). Further, twenty-two minutes later, at 12:41 a.m., Mr. Gasse was arrested. Farnsworth acknowledged at that time he already knew Mr. Gasse refused to provide a preliminary breath sample. At 12:48 a.m., Mr. Gasse advised Farnsworth he would not consent to any test. (R.29:37/ A.App.30)

Officer Farnsworth felt Mr. Gasse could cure the refusal by agreeing to the test, and since he changed his mind prior to the officer leaving to obtain the warrant, Officer Farnsworth halted the process of obtaining the warrant, read another Informing the Accused form, and completed the twenty-minute observation period. *Id.* But Mr. Gasse could not provide a sufficient sample into the machine.

Farnsworth then changed the requested test to blood rather than breath. Mr. Gasse refused, stating "I'm not getting stuck with a needle" "I don't want to get AIDS". (R.29:40/A.App.32). Mr. Gasse commented on the pandemic and indicated he refused to provide a blood sample.

This refusal occurred at 1:27 a.m., an hour and eight minutes after Officer Farnsworth's initial contact with Mr.

Gasse. (R.29:41/ A.App.33). Now at 1:48 a.m., according to Officer Farnsworth, Mr. Gasse again changed his mind and agreed to the blood test. (R.29:41/ A.App.33). At 1:53 a.m., Officer Farnsworth began to transport Mr. Gasse to the hospital for a blood draw.

At 2:03 a.m. they arrive at the hospital for the blood draw. (R.29:41/A.App.33) Then at 2:04 a.m., Mr. Gasse informed Officer Farnsworth he is not impaired, and he is not getting stabbed with a needle. (R.29:42/ A.App.34). about one hour and forty-five minutes after the initial contact. However, Farnsworth still does not attempt to get a warrant, but rather forced Mr. Gasse to provide a blood sample under the auspices of exigent circumstances (the rapid dissipation of alcohol in the blood). Officer Farnsworth conceded no exigent circumstances existed at 12:48 a.m. when Mr. Gasse initially refused testing. Further, he agreed no exigent circumstances existed when Mr. Gasse refused testing at 1:27 a.m. or at 2:04 a.m.. Officer Farnsworth testified he still would have had time to obtain the warrant even an hour and forty-five minutes after the initial contact. (R.29:44/ A.App.35).

Officer Farnsworth testified due to him not being able to "complete the full array of standardized field sobriety exercises, I had a very small sample of his level of impairment." (R.29:48/A.App. 36).

The court by written order signed on March 9, 2021 found Mr. Gasse refused to permit chemical testing.

Mr. Gasse timely filed a notice of appeal on March 17, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the circuit court's finding of a refusal, appellate court will uphold the lower courts finding of facts unless they are clearly erroneous, but independently reviews application of those facts to constitutional principles, as questions of law. See *State v. Blatterman*, 2015 WI 46, 362 Wis.2d 138, 864 N.W.2d 26, *In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23, ¶16, bri308 Wis.2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243.

ARGUMENT

BASED ON THE FACTS ADDUCED AT THE REFUSAL HEARING, THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING OFFICER HAD THE REQUISITE LEVEL OF SUSPICION TO BELIEVE MR. GASSE WAS DRIVING OR OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF ALCOHOL

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. §343.305(9)(a)5, a court considers three issues at a refusal hearing. First, "whether the officer had probable cause to believe the person was driving or operating a

motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol...and whether the person was lawfully placed under arrest for a violation of s. 346.63(1)." Second, whether the officer provided the implied consent warning as required under Wis. Stat. §343.305(4). Third, "whether the person refused to permit the test."

The issue herein is whether the officer had the requisite level of probable cause to believe Mr. Gasse was operating while impaired. Based on the facts adduced at the motion hearing, and specifically Officer Farnsworth's statement that he forced a blood draw because of time constraints, and because without completion of the standard field sobriety tests he was unable to get a full scope of Mr. Gasse's actual impairment, (R.29:36/ A.App.29) Officer Farnsworth did not have the requisite level of suspicion to believe Mr. Gasse operated his motor vehicle while impaired.

Further, even though Mr. Gasse had some limitations causing Officer Farnsworth to forgo physical field sobriety test, Farnsworth could have performed other non-standardized test. However, Officer Farnsworth chose not to do so.

The observation made by Officer Farnsworth would not have led a reasonable police officer to believe that Mr. Gasse was operating his motor vehicle while impaired.

First, Farnsworth did not testify that he observed Mr. Gasse driving, or that Mr. Gasse drove in a deviant manner. In fact, while Officer Farnsworth testified to the time when he first had contact with Mr. Gasse, a specific time of driving was not established.

Second, the observations made of Mr. Gasse's person and on the limited field sobriety test performed would not have provided probable cause to arrest. After having contact with Mr. Gasse, Officer Farnsworth indicated he thought Mr. Gasse's exhibited slurred speech. Farnsworth also testified he observed Mr. Gasse to have blood shot, droopy and glassy eyes.

Because of the above, Officer Farnsworth requested Mr. Gasse to submit to the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus test (HGN). Without explanation Officer Farnsworth testified he observed "lack of smooth pursuit, nystagmus prior to 45 degrees, and nystagmus on the onset of maximum deviation." (R.29:18/A.App.15). Officer Farnsworth did not testify as to whether he observe the above in one eye or both. He did not testify as to what he was trained to look for, or the significance of the

observations relative to impairment. Nor did the State attempt to establish a foundation for the observations. Farnsworth did not perform the physical field sobriety tests because Mr. Gasse had non-impairment related physical ailments which prevent the testing. More importantly, Officer Farnsworth did not perform non-standard field sobriety tests.

The defense acknowledges that field sobriety tests are not necessary to establish probable cause to arrest. see State v. Kasian, 207 Wis.2d 611, 558 N.W.2d 687 (1996) and State v. Wille, 185 Wis.2d 673, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994). While field sobriety tests are not necessary in every impaired driving situation, they will be required in some cases. *Kasian* court held that "in some cases field sobriety tests may be necessary to establish probable cause; in other cases, they many not. This case, we conclude, falls into the latter category." *Id.* at 622. In both *Kasian* and *Wille* the court upheld the arrests in the absence of field sobriety tests. Based on the facts of each case, the court found that field sobriety tests were unnecessary to establish probable cause to arrest.

However, each case is easily distinguishable from the case herein. Unlike Mr. Gasse's case, both *Kasian* and *Wille* involved accidents that left the defendants injured and unable to perform field sobriety tests. In *Kasian*, the defendant was found injured lying next to his van. *Kasian* at 622. In *Wille* the defendant suffered facial lacerations that required medical attention. Because of these injuries officers were unable to perform field sobriety tests. Furthermore, at the hospital, Wille made admissions suggesting consciousness of guilt, and those admissions added to the facts justifying Wille's arrest. (Wille stated to officers that he had to "quit doing this."). *Wille* at 329. Mr. Gasse made no such admissions.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, protect individuals against unreasonable seizures. "A custodial arrest of a suspect based on probable cause is a reasonable intrusion under the Fourth Amendment..." *State v. Sykes*, 2005 WI 48, ¶14, 279 Wis.2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277 citing to *State v. Fry*, 131 Wis.2d 153, 169, 388 N.W.2d 565 (1986). In the context of a refusal hearing, probable cause "exists where the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe ...that the defendant was operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant." *State v. Nordness*, 128 Wis.2d 15, 35, 381 N.W.2d 300 (1986) see also *In re*

Smith, 2008 WI 23, ¶15, 308 Wis.2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243. Probable cause requires that at the moment of arrest, an officer knew of facts and circumstances that were sufficient to warrant a prudent person to believe that the person arrested had committed or was committing an offense. Village of Elkhart Lake v. *Borzyskowski*, 123 Wis.2d 185, 189, 366 N.W. 2d 506 (Ct. App. 1985). A reasonable police officer need only believe that guilt is more than a possibility. *County of Dane v. Sharpee*, 154 Wis.2d 515, 518, 453 N.W.2d 508 (Ct. App. 1990). The State has the burden to show the evidence known to the arresting officer at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable officer to believe that the defendant was probably guilty of operating a motor vehicle while impaired. *State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶38, 317 Wis.2d383, 766 N.W.2d 551, see also *In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23 at ¶15. Probable cause is determined on a case-by-case basis using the totality of the circumstances. State v. Kasian, 207 Wis.2d 611, 621-22, 558 N.W.2d 687 (Ct.App. 1996)

This is not a case where the officer observed the defendant operating the motor vehicle or observed deviant driving. see *State v. Lange*, 2009 WI 49, ¶38, 317 Wis.2d383, 766 N.W.2d 551 (Wildly dangerous diving alone might suggest the absence of a sober driver) see also *In re Smith*, 2008 WI 23,

308 Wis.2d 65, 746 N.W.2d 243, (At the time of the arrest, the Deputy knew that the defendant had been driving well in excess of the speed limit late at night on a two-lane highway, and observed the defendant cross the centerline twice).

Furthermore, the observations of Mr. Gasse and the single field sobriety test performed (the HGN) do not rise to the level of suspicion to even request a preliminary breath test under Wis. Stat. §343.303. "Probable cause to believe" refers to a quantum of evidence greater than reasonable suspicion to make an investigative stop, but less than probable cause to make an arrest. *County of Jefferson v. Renz*, 231 Wis.2d 293, 603 N.W.2d 541 (1999).

Officer Farnsworth testified on cross-examination he forced Mr. Gasse to take the test without a warrant because he could not gauge Mr. Gasse's level of impairment. By his own admission, he could not gauge Mr. Gasse's level of impairment.

Based on the above, the state has failed to meet its burden. Officer Farnsworth did not have "probable cause to believe [Mr. Gasse] was driving or operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of alcohol..." see Wis. Stat. §343.305(9)(a), and thus the court erred in finding Mr. Gasse refused chemical testing.

CONCLUSION

Because the State failed to establish that Officer Farnsworth had probable cause to believe that Mr. Gasse was operating while impaired under Wis. Stat. §343.305(9)(a)5.a., the trial court erred in finding Mr. Gasse unlawfully refused to permit chemical testing. The Court should reverse the judgment of conviction and vacate the refusal.