FILED 08-25-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Appeal Case No. 2021AP000484
Washington County Circuit Court Case No. 2020TR000836

In the Matter of the Refusal of Edward R. Gasse STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Edward R. Gasse..

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE TRIAL COURT IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS PROBABLE CAUSE TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED AND HE THEREFORE IMPROPERLY REFUSED THE BLOOD DRAW IN WASHINGTON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JAMES G. POUROS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ALYSSA M. SCHALLER Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1097936

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Is the Defendant precluded from raising this appeal as
 the issue was not litigated at the trial court level?

 Answer: Trial court found that probable cause was not in
 dispute.
- Whether Officer Farnsworth had probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Operating While Intoxicated?
 Answer: The trial court found that probable cause was not in dispute and the refusal was in all respects improper.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Respondent will not be requesting oral argument or publication of the Court's decision. The Respondent believes that briefs will adequately address the issues presented.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The State agrees that the Standard of Review as outlined in the Defendant's brief is correct.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Facts in addition to those set forth by the Defendant are contained in the argument section as needed.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFENDANT IS PRECLUDED FROM RAISING THIS ISSUE AS HE CONCEDED PROBABLE CAUSE DURING THE MOTION HEARING AS THERE WERE NO ARGUMENTS REGARDING THAT QUESTION.

The Defendant did not dispute probable cause at any time prior to the filing of this appeal. This is clear from all circuit court filings regarding this issue which are included in the Respondent's Appendix A - 1-71.

Specifically, in Judge Pouros' Decision and Order he stated outright that issues one and two with regards to refusal hearings were not in dispute. [Def. App. 3]. Issue one is whether the officer had probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Operating While Intoxicated and issue two was whether the officer read the Informing the Accused form to the Defendant. Wis. Stat. §343.305(9)(a)5. The only issues litigated at the hearing on September 23, 2020 were whether the Defendant actually refused the blood draw and whether there were exigent circumstances that justified a warrantless blood draw. The Trial Court found that the refusal was improper and there were exigent circumstances which justified the warrantless blood draw. [Def. App. 5].

Issue preclusion is a doctrine designed to limit the relitigation of issues that have been contested in a previous action between the same or different parties. Lawlor v. National Screen Service Corp., 349 U.S. 322 (1955). There are competing goals of judicial efficiency and finality as well as the right to litigate one's claims before a jury when deciding whether to permit parties to collaterally estop one another. Michelle T. by Sumpter v. Crozier, 173 Wis. 2d 681, 288 (1993). The Respondent argues that since this is the first time the Defendant is raising this issue and the interests of judicial efficiency and finality are of the utmost importance that he be precluded from arguing this now in front of this court.

II. OFFICER **FARNSWORTH** HAD CAUSE TO ARREST THE DEFENDANT FOR OPERATING WHILE INTOXICATED SUBSEQUENTLY READ HIM THE INFORMING THE ACCUSED FORM.

Even if the Court finds that Defendant is not precluded from first raising this issue on appeal, there was probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Operating While Impaired. The burden is on the State at a refusal hearing only to show that the officer's account is plausible and that probable cause exists under that account. State v. Wille, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 681 (1999).

"Probable cause exists where the totality of the circumstances within the arresting officer's knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime." State v. Kennedy, 359 Wis. 2d 454, 468 (2014). Furthermore, "Wisconsin has no requirement that police must perform field sobriety tests in order to determine whether probable cause exists." Id. However, even if an officer does perform field sobriety test and a person passes them in the eyes of the officer, that does not automatically negate the existence of probable cause. State v. Felton, 344 Wis. 2d 483, (Ct. App. 2012).

The State believes that there are numerous factors that came into play to develop probable cause to arrest the Defendant in this case. Initially, other Germantown officers interacted with the Defendant who was intoxicated mere hours before he drove himself to the police department and Officer Farnsworth was aware of that incident. [Res. App. A-10-11]. Officers knew the intoxicated state the Defendant was in at that time and even advised him to call if he had any questions instead of coming into the station. Id. at A-13. When asked if he had anything to drink, the Defendant admitted to one to two beers around 5 or 6 pm. Id. at A-14. The Defendant at first

admitted to driving but then changed his story and said that a neighbor drove him to the police station, even though video evidence showed it was only the Defendant who drove. *Id.* at A-14-15. While speaking with the Defendant, Officer Farnsworth observed the him to have droopy, glassy and bloodshot eyes, slurred speech and the odor of intoxicants emitting from his breath. *Id.* at A-12.

Based on these observations, Officer Farnsworth requested the Defendant perform Standardized Field Sobriety Tests (SFSTs) which he stated he could partially complete due to a leg injury. *Id.* at A-17. On the HGN test the Defendant showed multiple signs of impairment. *Id.* at A-18. Then, the Defendant refused to submit to a preliminary breath test. *Id.* at A-19. This ultimately led to Officer Farnsworth placing the Defendant under arrest for Operating While Intoxicated. *Id.*

The arguments made by the Defendant mostly center around the lack of clues that the Defendant was impaired. Yet, after only being around the Defendant for a short period of time, Officer Farnsworth questioned the defendant's state of mind and asked if he was willing to perform SFSTs to determine if he was able to safely operate a motor vehicle. *Id.* at A-17.. This was after the Defendant spoke with officers and

then gave false information about his neighbor driving him to the police department. *Id.* at A-15. This indicates that Officer Farnsworth was questioning the Defendant's ability to operate his vehicle safely and wanted further information. Then, after administering the SFSTs, Officer Farnsworth testified that he placed the Defendant under arrest based upon his admission to driving, his consumption of alcohol, and his performance on the SFSTs. *Id.* at A-20.

The Defendant states that there was no foundation laid as to what Officer Farnsworth was trained to look for on the HGN or the significance of the observations he made relative to impairment. [Def. Brief 17-18]. However, ADA Schepper did elicit testimony about Officer Farnsworth's qualifications to administer Standardized Field Sobriety tests which he testified that he was trained and certified to administer through the police academy. Res. App. A-15-16]. Officer Farnsworth stated that he administered the test in the manner in which he had been trained and although he did not specify whether or not he saw each clue present in each eye, he also did not specify that he only saw the clues in one eye. *Id.* at A-17. The manner in which he responded to the question asked can be construed as Officer Farnsworth stating that he observed those three clues in

each of the Defendant's eyes for a total of six clues on the HGN.

The defendant further argues that Officer Farnsworth admitted that he could not gauge the Defendant's level of impairment without completion of the entirety of the SFSTs and that is why he forced the blood draw. [Def. Brief 11]. Although that is a proper reason for requesting a blood draw by Officer Farnsworth, the Defendant argues that Officer Farnsworth did not believe he had enough probable cause, by his own admission, to arrest the Defendant. *Id.* This misconstrues Officer Farnsworth's words and completely omits the next question asked by ADA Schepper at the refusal hearing:

"At any point prior to the blood draw did your earlier opinion that he was under the influence of an intoxicant change at all?"

Officer Farnsworth:

"No."

[Res. App. A-37].

There is no way Officer Farnsworth could know the Defendant's actual level of impairment. Only a blood result which is a scientifically accurate and reliable measure of the Defendant's alcohol level could determine that. Officer

Farnsworth correctly testified to his reasoning for requesting the blood draw based on his observations.

There is no requirement that every single probable cause factor to be present to arrest someone. There are more than enough boxes checked in this in situation to warrant Officer Farnsworth taking the Defendant in to custody. It is also up the discretion of the arresting officer to perform any non-standard field sobriety tests before placing someone under arrest which Officer Farnsworth decided not to perform. Id. at A-18-19. That does not negate everything that Officer Farnsworth did observe which was that the Defendant drove to the police department himself, showed signs of impairment, failed the SFST that he was able to perform, and refused a preliminary breath test. Any reasonable officer in Officer Farnsworth's position would have concluded that the Defendant's ability to safely operate a vehicle was impaired. The totality of the circumstances that evening gave Officer Farnsworth probable cause to arrest the Defendant and read him the Informing the Accused form which he ultimately refused.

CONCLUSION

Although the Respondent believes that the Defendant is precluded from bringing this issue on appeal, Officer Farnsworth observed numerous indicators of impairment during his interaction with the Defendant. This was all in addition to the Defendant's own admissions to drinking and driving. All of which resulted in probable cause to arrest the Defendant for Operating While Intoxicated. Therefore, the Respondent respectfully requests that this Court affirm the Trial Court's ruling that there was probable cause to arrest the Defendant, Officer Farnsworth read the Informing the Accused, the Defendant refused the blood draw and therefore the refusal was improper.